



**SUPPLEMENT DATED 6 APRIL 2018  
TO THE BASE PROSPECTUSES PURSUANT TO THE**

**DEBT INSTRUMENTS ISSUANCE PROGRAMME**

**SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE** and **SG ISSUER** and **SG OPTION EUROPE**  
as Issuer and as Issuer as Issuer  
Guarantor (incorporated in Luxembourg) (incorporated in France)  
(incorporated in France)

**PROGRAMME D'ÉMISSION DE TITRES DE CRÉANCES**

**SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE** and **SG ISSUER** and **SG OPTION EUROPE**  
as Issuer and as Issuer as Issuer  
Guarantor (incorporated in Luxembourg) (incorporated in France)  
(incorporated in France)

This supplement dated 6 April 2018 (hereinafter the “**Supplement**”) to each of the following base prospectuses (each such base prospectuses, a “**Base Prospectus**” and, collectively, the “**Base Prospectuses**”) as prepared by Société Générale, SG Issuer, and SG Option Europe in their capacities as issuers, the “**Issuers**” and each an “**Issuer**”, constitutes a supplement in respect of each Base Prospectus for the purposes of Article 13.1 of the Luxembourg law dated 10 July 2005 on prospectuses for securities as amended (hereinafter the “**Luxembourg Law**”):

<b>Base Prospectus</b>	<b>Issuers</b>	<b>Approved by</b>	<b>Date of Approval</b>	<b>Relevant pages of this Supplement</b>
The base prospectus in English language in relation to the debt instruments issuance programme  (the “ <b>English Base Prospectus</b> ”)	Société Générale  SG Issuer  SG Option Europe	<i>Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier</i> (the “ <b>CSSF</b> ”)  and by  SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd	27 June 2017	4 to 14
The base prospectus in French language in relation to the <i>Programme d’émission de titres de créances</i>  (the “ <b>French Base Prospectus</b> ” or “ <i>Prospectus de Base en Français</i> ”)	Société Générale  SG Issuer  SG Option Europe	CSSF	3 July 2017	14 to 25

This Supplement is approved:

- a. by the CSSF in accordance with Article 7 of the Luxembourg Law implementing Article 13 of the Directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 November 2003 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading as amended including the amendments made by Directive 2010/73/EU; and
- b. in respect of the English Base Prospectus only, as defined above, by the SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd pursuant to its listing rules.

Terms defined in the Base Prospectuses shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the same meanings when used in the Supplement.

## PURPOSE OF THIS SUPPLEMENT

The purpose of this Supplement is to:

- incorporate by reference into the English Base Prospectus, the English translation of the 2018 Registration Document of Société Générale published on 8 March 2018 and into the French Base Prospectus, the French version of the 2018 Registration document of Société Générale; and to
- update sections “Summary”, “Risk Factors”, “Description of Société Générale”, “Description of SG Issuer”, “Description of SG Option Europe” and “General Information” of each Base Prospectus accordingly.

This Supplement completes, modifies and must be read in conjunction with each Base Prospectus:

- (i) in relation with the English Base Prospectus, the first supplement dated 31 July 2017, the second supplement dated 10 August 2017, the third supplement dated 13 September 2017, the fourth supplement dated 20 October 2017, the fifth supplement dated 14 November 2017, the sixth supplement dated 11 December 2017, the seventh supplement dated 18 January 2018; the eighth supplement dated 27 February and the ninth supplement dated 20 March 2018; and
- (ii) in relation with the French Base Prospectus, the first supplement dated 31 July 2017, the second supplement dated 10 August 2017, the third supplement dated 21 September 2017, the fourth supplement dated 13 November 2017, the fifth supplement dated 14 November 2017, the sixth supplement dated 11 December 2017, the seventh supplement dated 18 January 2018; the eighth supplement dated 27 February and the ninth supplement dated 20 March 2018;

together the “**Previous Supplements**”.

Text printed in blue and underlined is added in the Base Prospectuses. Text printed in red and strikethrough is removed from the Base Prospectuses.

Full information on the Issuers and the offer of any Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of the relevant Base Prospectus, the Previous Supplements and this Supplement.

To the extent that there is any inconsistency between (i) any statement in this Supplement and (ii) any other statement in the Base Prospectuses, the statements in (i) above will prevail.

In accordance with Article 13.2 of the Luxembourg Law, investors who have already agreed to purchase or subscribe for the securities before this Supplement is published have the right, exercisable within a time-limit of two business days after the publication of this Supplement (no later than 10 April 2018) to withdraw their acceptances.

## I. AMENDMENTS TO THE ENGLISH BASE PROSPECTUS

### 1. AMENDMENTS TO THE SECTION “SUMMARY”

- 1.1 Element B.4b on pages 7 and 8, “Known trends affecting the issuer and the industries in which it operates”, is modified as follows:

<b>B.4b</b>	<b>Known trends affecting the issuer and the industries in which it operates</b>	<p><del>[If the Issuer is Société Générale: Societe Generale continues to be subject to the usual risks and the risks inherent in its business mentioned in Chapter 4 of the Registration Document filed on 8 March 2017, and in its updated version filed on 4 May 2017.</del></p> <p><del>In a context of firming world growth, several risks continue to weigh on global economic prospects: risks of renewed financial tensions in Europe, risks of renewed turbulences (financial, social and political) in emerging economies, uncertainties related to unconventional monetary policy measures implemented in the main developed economies, the rise in terrorist risks as well as of geopolitical and protectionist tensions.</del></p> <p><del>More specifically, the Group could be affected by:</del></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"><li><del>– renewed financial tensions in the Eurozone resulting from a return of doubts about the integrity of the region, for example in the run-up to elections in a context of rising eurosceptic political forces;</del></li><li><del>– a sudden and marked rise in interest rates and volatility in the markets (bonds, equities and commodities), which could be triggered by poor communication from central banks, in particular the US Federal Reserve (Fed) or the European Central Bank (ECB), when changing monetary policy stance;</del></li><li><del>– a sharp slowdown in economic activity in China, triggering capital flight from the country, depreciation pressure on the Chinese currency and, by contagion, on other emerging country currencies, as well as a fall in commodity prices;</del></li><li><del>– socio-political tensions in some countries dependent on oil and gas revenues and still needing to adapt to the situation of low prices for these commodities;</del></li><li><del>– worsening geopolitical tensions in the Middle East, South China Sea, North Korea or Ukraine. In the latter case, this could lead to the extension and stepping up of sanctions between Western countries and Russia, even more depressed economic activity in Russia, and a further sharp depreciation in the Rouble;</del></li><li><del>– fears regarding a possible tightening of international trade barriers, in particular in large developed economies (United States or, in the context of Brexit, United Kingdom for example). The macroeconomic environment saw a gradual improvement in 2017. This improvement is expected to continue in 2018, with accelerated growth in most major economic areas and more dynamic international trade flows. The markets should remain buoyant, although valuation levels raise the question of their long-term sustainability, and a certain volatility could resurface. Lastly, the central banks should continue the normalisation of their monetary policies, albeit more gradually.</del></li></ul> <p><del>In the Eurozone, growth should strengthen further in 2018, under the combined effect of the accommodative monetary and budgetary policies implemented, together with strong international demand.</del></p>
-------------	--	--

		<p><u>For 2018, the regulatory agenda should focus on the European legislative process concerning the set of CRR2/CRD5 texts, as well as the finalisation and harmonisation of the various liability ratio requirements (MREL – Minimum Required Eligible Liabilities, and TLAC – Total Loss Absorbing Capacity).</u></p> <p><u>The year 2018 will likely be marked by a highly uncertain geopolitical environment, following on from a certain number of events over the last two years. Important elections will be held in several European Union countries (in Italy, in particular), and the Brexit negotiations will continue. “Separatist” tensions (Catalonia) could further intensify. In addition, several areas of instability and tension could affect the global economy, whether in the Middle East or in Asia, with American policy currently being characterised by a certain unpredictability.</u></p> <p><u>In Europe, provided that the political situation in Germany and in Italy becomes clearer, 2018 could signal a new impetus in European ambition.</u></p> <p><u>Lastly, banks must continue to adapt to a certain number of fundamental shifts, especially the acceleration of technological changes, requiring them to radically transform their operational and relationship models.</u></p> <p><u>Within this framework, and in order to generate stronger, profitable and sustainable growth, the Group’s priorities in 2018 will be to:</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li><u>• continue its growth by implementing a series of ambitious initiatives aimed at all its high-potential customers (corporates, professionals and high net worth customers, bank insurance, Boursorama, ALD, etc.), while developing segments and services tailored to their changing needs;</u></li> <li><u>• accelerate the digital transformation of all its businesses and functions, and in particular the digitalisation of its retail banking networks, both in France and abroad;</u></li> <li><u>• maintain strict control of its costs, risks and capital allocation;</u></li> <li><u>• continue its realignment via the disposal or closure of activities that do not have critical mass and/or do not generate synergies;</u></li> <li><u>• continue to implement its Culture and Conduct programme, which aims to develop the Societe Generale culture by placing values, leadership quality and behavioural integrity at the very heart of the Group’s transformation, thereby building confidence among all its stakeholders (and mainly its customers).]</u></li> </ul> <p><i>[If the Issuer is SG Issuer or SG Option Europe:</i></p> <p>The Issuer expects to continue its activity in accordance with its corporate objects over the course of <del>2017</del> 2018.]</p>
--	--	--

1.2 In element B.12, “Selected historical key financial information regarding the issuer”, the table on page 9 relating to Société Générale as Issuer is modified as follows:

<b>B.12</b>	<b>Selected historical key financial information regarding the Issuer</b>	<i>[If the Issuer is Société Générale:</i>		
			<b>Year ended 2017</b> <b>(unaudited)</b> <b>(audited)</b>	<b>Year ended 2016</b> <b>(audited)</b>
		<b>Results (in millions of euros)</b>		

		Net Banking Income	23,954	25,298
		Operating income	4,767	6,390
		Net income	3,430	4,338
		Reported Group Net income	2,806	3,874
		<i>French retail Banking</i>	1,010	1,486
		<i>International Retail Banking &amp; Financial Services</i>	1,975	1,631
		<i>Global Banking and Investor Solutions</i>	1,566	1,803
		<i>Corporate Centre</i>	(1,745)	(1,046)
		Net cost of risk	(1,349)	(2,091)
		<del>Underlying ROE (1)</del> <u>ROE after tax</u> **	<del>8.3%</del> <u>4.9%</u>	<del>7.9%</del> <u>7.3%</u>
		Tier 1 Ratio **	13.8%	14.5%
		<b>Activity (in billions of euros)</b>		
		Total assets/liabilities	1,275.1	1,354.4**
		Customer loans	425.2	426.5
		Customer deposits	410.6	421.0
		<b>Equity (in billions of euros)</b>		
		Group shareholders' equity	59.4	62.0
		Non-controlling Interests	4.7	<del>3.8</del> <u>3.7</u>
		<b>Cash flow statements (in millions of euros)</b>		
		Net inflow (outflow) in cash and cash equivalent	18,023	18,442
		<del>(1) Adjusted for non-economic and exceptional items and IFRIC 21.</del>		
		** These financial <del>positions or</del> ratios are unaudited.		

- 1.3 In element B.12, “Statement as no material adverse change in the prospects of the issuer since the date of its last published audited financial statements”, the sub-paragraph on page 10 relating to Société Générale as Issuer is modified as follows:

“[If the Issuer is Société Générale:

There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since 31 December ~~2016~~ 2017.]”

- 1.4 In element B.12, “Significant changes in the issuer’s financial or trading position subsequent to the period covered by the historical financial information” the sub-paragraph on page 10 relating to Société Générale as Issuer remains unchanged and must be read as follows:

“[If the Issuer is Société Générale:

Not Applicable. There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer since 31 December 2017.]”.

- 1.5 Element B.13 on page 10, “Recent events particular to the issuer which are to a material extent relevant to the evaluation of the issuer’s solvency”, is modified as follows:

B.13	<b>Recent events particular to the issuer which are to a material extent relevant to the evaluation of the issuer's solvency</b>	Not Applicable. There <del>has</del> <u>have</u> been no recent <del>event</del> <u>events</u> particular to the Issuer which <del>is</del> <u>are</u> to a material extent relevant to the evaluation of the Issuer's solvency.
------	--	--

1.6 Element D.2 on pages 31 to 33, "Key information on the key risks that are specific to the issuer [and the guarantor]", is modified as follows:

D.2	<b>Key information on the key risks that are specific to the issuer [and the guarantor]</b>	<p>An investment in the Notes involves certain risks which should be assessed prior to any investment decision.</p> <p>In particular, the Group is exposed to the risks inherent in its core businesses, including:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>global economical risks:</u> <p><u>The global economy and financial markets continue to display high levels of uncertainty, which may materially and adversely affect the Group's business, financial situation and results of operations.</u></p> <p><u>The Group's results may be affected by regional market exposures.</u></p> <p><u>The Group operates in highly competitive industries, including in its home market.</u></p> </li> <li>• <u>credit risks:</u> <p>The Group is exposed to counterparty risk and concentration risk.</p> <p>The Group's hedging strategies may not prevent all risk of losses.</p> <p>The Group's results of operations and financial situation could be adversely affected by a significant increase in new provisions or by inadequate provisioning for loan losses.</p> </li> <li>• <u>market risks:</u> <p><del>The global economy and financial markets continue to display high levels of uncertainty, which may materially and adversely affect the Group's business, financial situation and results of operations.</del></p> <p><del>The Group's results may be affected by regional market exposures.</del></p> <p><del>The Group operates in highly competitive industries, including in its home market.</del></p> <p>The protracted decline of financial markets <u>or reduced liquidity in such markets</u> may make it harder to sell assets <u>or manoeuvre trade positions</u> and could lead to material losses.</p> </li> </ul>
-----	---	---

		<p>The volatility of the financial markets may cause the Group to suffer significant losses on its trading and investment activities.</p> <p>The financial soundness and conduct of other financial institutions and market participants could adversely affect the Group.</p> <p>The Group may generate lower revenues from brokerage and other commission and fee-based businesses during market downturns.</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>operational risks:</u></li> </ul> <p>The Group's risk management system may not be effective and may expose the Group to unidentified or unanticipated risks, which could lead to significant losses.</p> <p>Operational failure, termination or capacity constraints affecting institutions the Group does business with, or failure or breach of the Group's information technology systems, could result in losses.</p> <p><del>The</del><u>To prepare its consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, the</u> Group relies on assumptions and estimates which, if incorrect, could have a significant impact on its financial statements.</p> <p>The Group's ability to attract and retain qualified employees <del>is critical to the success of its business, and the failure to do so, as well as significant changes in the regulatory framework related to employees and compensation,</del> <u>may materially adversely affect its performance.</u></p> <p>If the Group makes an acquisition, it may be unable to manage the integration process in a cost-effective manner or achieve the expected benefits.</p> <p><u>The Group may incur losses as a result of unforeseen or catastrophic events, including terrorist attacks or natural disasters.</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>structural interest rate and exchange rate risks:</u></li> </ul> <p>Changes in interest rates may adversely affect the Group's banking and asset management businesses.</p> <p>Fluctuations in exchange rates could adversely affect the Group's results of operations.</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>liquidity risk:</u></li> </ul> <p>The Group depends on access to financing and other sources of liquidity, which may be restricted for reasons beyond its control.</p> <p><del>A reduced liquidity in financial markets may make it harder to sell assets and could lead to material losses.</del></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>non-compliance and reputational risks, <del>legal risks</del> litigation:</u></li> </ul> <p>Reputational damage could harm the Group's competitive position.</p>
--	--	--



		<p>The Group is exposed to legal risks that could negatively affect its financial situation or results of operations.</p> <p>The Group is subject to an extensive supervisory and regulatory framework in each of the countries in which it operates and changes in this regulatory framework could have a significant effect on the Group's businesses <u>and costs, as well as on the financial and economic environment in which it operates.</u></p> <p>A number of exceptional measures taken by governments, central banks and regulators could be amended or terminated, <del>and measures at the European level face implementation risks.</del></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>other risks:</u></li> </ul> <p><del>The Group may incur losses as a result of unforeseen or catastrophic events, including the emergence of a pandemic, terrorist attacks or natural disasters.</del></p> <p><u>Risks related to the implementation of the Group's strategic plan.</u></p> <p><u>The creditworthiness and credit ratings of the Issuer may affect the market value of the Notes.</u></p> <p><u>The United Kingdom's impending departure from the European Union could adversely affect the Group.</u></p> <p>[Insert if the Issuer is SG Issuer or SG Option Europe: Since the Issuer is part of the Group, these risk factors are applicable to the Issuer.]</p>
--	--	--

## 2. AMENDMENTS TO THE SECTION "RISK FACTORS"

2.1 In the introduction of the section "Risk factors", the first paragraph on page 40 is modified as follows:

***"Prospective purchasers of Notes should carefully consider the following information in conjunction with other information contained in this Base Prospectus, any Supplement thereto, the ~~2017~~ 2018 Registration Document of Société Générale ~~and its related updates~~ (see the section "Documents Incorporated by Reference"), other information concerning the Issuers incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus and any Final Terms before purchasing Notes."***

2.2 In the sub-section 2, "Risks relating to the Issuers, the Group and, the Guarantor", the paragraph 2.1 on pages 42 and 43, "The Group is exposed to the risks inherent in its core businesses", is modified as follows:

### **"2.1 The Group is exposed to the risks inherent in its core businesses**

An investment in the Notes involves certain risks which should be assessed prior to any investment decision.

In particular, the Group is exposed to the risks inherent in its core businesses, including:

- global economical risks:

The global economy and financial markets continue to display high levels of uncertainty, which may materially and adversely affect the Group's business, financial situation and results of operations.

The Group's results may be affected by regional market exposures.

The Group operates in highly competitive industries, including in its home market.

- credit risks:

The Group is exposed to counterparty risk and concentration risk.

The Group's hedging strategies may not prevent all risk of losses.

The Group's results of operations and financial situation could be adversely affected by a significant increase in new provisions or by inadequate provisioning for loan losses.

- market risks:

~~The global economy and financial markets continue to display high levels of uncertainty, which may materially and adversely affect the Group's business, financial situation and results of operations.~~

~~The Group's results may be affected by regional market exposures.~~

~~The Group operates in highly competitive industries, including in its home market.~~

The protracted decline of financial markets or reduced liquidity in such markets may make it harder to sell assets or manoeuvre trade positions and could lead to material losses.

The volatility of the financial markets may cause the Group to suffer significant losses on its trading and investment activities.

The financial soundness and conduct of other financial institutions and market participants could adversely affect the Group.

The Group may generate lower revenues from brokerage and other commission and fee-based businesses during market downturns.

- operational risks:

The Group's risk management system may not be effective and may expose the Group to unidentified or unanticipated risks, which could lead to significant losses.

Operational failure, termination or capacity constraints affecting institutions the Group does business with, or failure or breach of the Group's information technology systems, could result in losses.

~~The~~To prepare its consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, the Group relies on assumptions and estimates which, if incorrect, could have a significant impact on its financial statements.

The Group's ability to attract and retain qualified employees ~~is critical to the success of its business, and the failure to do so,~~ as well as significant changes in the regulatory framework related to employees and compensation, may materially adversely affect its performance.

If the Group makes an acquisition, it may be unable to manage the integration process in a cost-effective manner or achieve the expected benefits.

The Group may incur losses as a result of unforeseen or catastrophic events, including terrorist attacks or natural disasters.

- structural interest rate and exchange rate risks:

Changes in interest rates may adversely affect the Group's banking and asset management businesses.

Fluctuations in exchange rates could adversely affect the Group's results of operations.

- liquidity risk:

The Group depends on access to financing and other sources of liquidity, which may be restricted for reasons beyond its control.

~~A reduced liquidity in financial markets may make it harder to sell assets and could lead to material losses.~~

- non-compliance and reputational risks, ~~legal risks~~ litigation:

Reputational damage could harm the Group's competitive position.

The Group is exposed to legal risks that could negatively affect its financial situation or results of operations.

The Group is subject to an extensive supervisory and regulatory framework in each of the countries in which it operates and changes in this regulatory framework could have a significant effect on the Group's businesses and costs, as well as on the financial and economic environment in which it operates.

A number of exceptional measures taken by governments, central banks and regulators could be amended or terminated, ~~and measures at the European level face implementation risks.~~

- other risks:

~~The Group may incur losses as a result of unforeseen or catastrophic events, including the emergence of a pandemic, terrorist attacks or natural disasters.~~

Risks related to the implementation of the Group's strategic plan.

The creditworthiness and credit ratings of the Issuer may affect the market value of the Notes.

The United Kingdom's impending departure from the European Union could adversely affect the Group."

### 3. AMENDMENTS TO THE SECTION "DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE"

- 3.1 In paragraph 1.1, "*Documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale*", the following sub-paragraph 1.1.7 is added on page 117:

#### "1.1.7 2018 Registration Document

The expression "**2018 Registration Document**" means the English translation of *the Document de référence 2018* of Société Générale, the French version of which was filed with the AMF on 8 March 2018 under No D.18-0112, except for (i) the inside cover page containing the AMF visa and the related textbox, (ii) the statement of the person responsible of the registration document and the annual financial report made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chief Executive Officer of Société Générale, page 556 and (iii) the cross reference table, pages 560-562.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2018 Registration Document appears in the paragraph 2.1.7 below."

- 3.2 In paragraph 2.1, "*Cross references tables relating to Société Générale*", a sub-paragraph 2.1.7 including the following table is added on page 121:

#### "2.1.7 2018 Registration Document

<u>Regulation EC 809/2004 of 29 April 2004</u>	<u>2018 Registration Document</u>
<u>RISK FACTORS</u>	<u>138-235</u>

<b>INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER</b>	
<u>History and development of the company</u>	<u>8 ; 539</u>
<b>BUSINESS OVERVIEW</b>	
<u>Principal activities</u>	<u>9 ; 50-58</u>
<u>Principal markets</u>	<u>9-12 ; 14-26 ; 28-29 ; 406-409</u>
<b>ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE</b>	
<u>Summary description of the Group and the Issuer's position within it</u>	<u>9 ; 28-29</u>
<b>TREND INFORMATION</b>	<u>13</u>
<b>ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES AND GENERAL MANAGEMENT</b>	
<u>Board of Directors and general management</u>	<u>72-98 ; 132</u>
<u>Administrative bodies and senior management's conflicts of interest</u>	<u>132</u>
<b>MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS</b>	
<u>Control of the Issuer</u>	<u>535-536; 538</u>
<b>FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES OF THE ISSUER</b>	
<u>Historical financial information</u>	<u>123 ; 125 ; 147 ; 151-154 ; 166-167 ; 176 ; 179-183 ; 191-194 ; 198-202 ; 204-206 ; 217-218 ; 220-222 ; 301-447 ; 454-523 ; 561</u>
<u>Financial statements</u>	<u>123 ; 125 ; 147 ; 151-154 ; 166-167 ; 176 ; 179-183 ; 191-194 ; 198-202 ; 204-206 ; 217-218 ; 220-222 ; 301-447 ; 454-523</u>
<u>Consolidated balance Sheet</u>	<u>302-303</u>
<u>Consolidated income statement</u>	<u>304</u>
<u>Cashflow statement</u>	<u>308</u>
<u>Notes to the consolidated financial statements</u>	<u>309-447</u>
<u>Auditing of the historical annual financial information</u>	<u>448-453 ; 524-529</u>
<u>Age of latest financial information</u>	<u>302 ; 454</u>
<u>Legal and arbitration proceedings</u>	<u>232 ; 444-447 ; 521-523</u>
<u>Significant changes in the Issuer's financial position</u>	<u>66</u>
<b>MATERIAL CONTRACTS</b>	<u>67</u>

#### 4. AMENDMENTS TO THE SECTION “DESCRIPTION OF SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE”

4.1 Sub-section 1 on page 728, “*Statutory auditors*”, is modified as follows:

##### “1. STATUTORY AUDITORS

For the financial years ended 31 December ~~2015~~ 2016 and 31 December ~~2016~~ 2017:

**Ernst & Young et Autres**

Member of the French Compagnie nationale des commissaires aux comptes  
Represented by Isabelle Santenac,  
1/2, place des Saisons, 92400 Courbevoie - Paris-La Défense 1, France

**Deloitte & Associés**

Member of the French Compagnie nationale des commissaires aux comptes  
Represented by José-Luis Garcia,  
185, avenue Charles de Gaulle, 92524 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex, France.

Ernst & Young et Autres and Deloitte & Associés have no material interest in Société Générale.”

4.2 Sub-section 5 on page 728, “*Trend information*”, is modified as follows:

**“5. TREND INFORMATION**

---

There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of Société Générale and its consolidated subsidiaries (taken as a whole) since 31 December ~~2016~~ 2017.

For information on any known trends regarding Société Générale, please refer to page 13 of the English ~~version~~ translation of the document de reference ~~2017~~ 2018 of Société Générale incorporated by reference herein.”

4.3 Paragraph 9.1 on page 729, “*Legal and arbitration proceedings*”, is modified as follow:

**“9.1 Legal and arbitration proceedings**

Save as disclosed on pages ~~237 and 423 to 426~~ 232, 444 to 447 and 521 to 523 of the ~~2017~~ 2018 Registration Document, ~~page 63 of the First Update to the 2017 Registration Document and pages 60 and 112 to 114 of the Second Update to the 2017 Registration Document and pages 42 to 44 of the Third Update to the 2017 Registration Document~~, there are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings relating to claims or amounts during the period covering at least twelve months prior to the date of this Prospectus (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which Société Générale is aware) which may have, or have had in the recent past significant effects on Société Générale’s and/or the Group’s financial position or profitability.

See also paragraphs 1.1 and 2.1 in the section “*Documents Incorporated by Reference*” of this Prospectus.”

**5. AMENDMENT TO THE SECTION “DESCRIPTION OF SG ISSUER”**

Sub-section 5 on page 731, “*Organisational structure*”, is modified as follows:

**“5. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE**

---

SG Issuer is a member of the Group and has no subsidiaries.

A brief description and a simplified organisational chart of the Group is set out on pages 28 to 29 of the ~~2017~~ 2018 Registration Document of Société Générale (see paragraphs 1.1 and 2.1 in the section “*Documents Incorporated by Reference*” of this Base Prospectus).

SG Issuer is dependent upon Société Générale Bank & Trust within the Group.”

## 6. AMENDMENT TO THE SECTION “DESCRIPTION OF SG OPTION EUROPE”

Sub-section 5 on page 736, “*Organisational structure*”, is modified as follows:

### “5. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

5.1 SG Option Europe is a member of the Group and has no subsidiaries.

A brief description and a simplified organisational chart of the Group is set out on pages 22 to 23 of the ~~2017~~ 2018 Registration Document of Société Générale (see paragraphs 1.1 and 2.1 in the section “*Documents Incorporated by Reference*” of this Base Prospectus).2

5.2 SG Option Europe is dependent upon Société Générale within the Group.”

## 7. AMENDEMENT TO THE SECTION “GENERAL INFORMATION”

Sub-section 5, “*Availability of documents*”, point (b) on page 819 is modified as follows:

“(b) the 2016 Registration Document, the 2017 Registration Document ~~and~~ the First Update to the 2017 Registration Document and the 2018 Registration Document,”

## II. AMENDMENTS TO THE FRENCH BASE PROSPECTUS (Modifications au “Prospectus de Base en Français”)

### 1. MODIFICATIONS DE LA SECTION « RÉSUMÉ »

1.1 L'élément B.4b aux pages 9 et 10, « *Tendances connues ayant des répercussions sur l'Emetteur et ses secteurs d'activité* », est modifié comme suit :

<b>B.4b</b>	<b>Tendances connues ayant des répercussions sur l'Emetteur et ses secteurs d'activité</b>	<p><del>[Si l'Emetteur est Société Générale : Société Générale reste soumis aux risques habituels et propres à son activité tels que mentionnés dans le chapitre 4 du Document de référence déposé le 8 mars 2017 et dans son actualisation déposée le 4 mai 2017.</del></p> <p><del>Dans un contexte général de renforcement de l'activité mondiale, de nombreux aléas négatifs continuent de peser sur les perspectives économiques : le risque d'un regain des tensions financières en Europe, le risque de nouvelles turbulences (financières, sociopolitiques) dans les économies émergentes, les incertitudes induites par les politiques monétaires non conventionnelles mises en œuvre par les principaux pays développés, la montée du risque terroriste et de tensions géopolitiques et protectionnistes.</del></p> <p><del>Plus spécifiquement, le Groupe pourrait être affecté par :</del></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"><li><del>– un regain des tensions financières au sein de la zone euro pouvant résulter d'un retour des doutes sur l'intégrité de la zone, par exemple à l'approche d'élections dans un contexte de montée de forces politiques eurosceptiques ;</del></li><li><del>– une remontée brutale et marquée des taux d'intérêt et de la volatilité sur les marchés, tant obligataires qu'actions ou des matières premières, qui pourraient résulter d'une mauvaise communication de banques centrales, notamment la Fed et la BCE, lors de changements d'orientation de la politique monétaire ;</del></li></ul>
-------------	--	--

		<p><del>– un ralentissement brutal de l'activité en Chine, déclenchant des fuites de capitaux de ce pays, des pressions baissières sur la devise chinoise et par contagion sur les autres devises émergentes, ainsi qu'une rechute des prix des matières premières ;</del></p> <p><del>– des tensions sociopolitiques dans certains pays dépendants de rentes pétrolières ou gazières et devant encore s'adapter à une situation de bas prix de ces matières premières ;</del></p> <p><del>– une aggravation supplémentaire des tensions géopolitiques au Moyen-Orient, en mer de Chine, en Corée du Nord ou encore en Ukraine. Ces dernières pourraient conduire à une prolongation et un renforcement des sanctions entre les pays occidentaux et la Russie, un arrêt de la reprise économique en Russie et une nouvelle forte dépréciation du rouble ;</del></p> <p><del>– de craintes quant à un possible renforcement de barrières au commerce international, en particulier pour de grands pays développés (États-Unis ou, dans le cadre du Brexit, Royaume-Uni par exemple). Le contexte macro-économique s'est progressivement amélioré en 2017.</del></p> <p><u>Cette amélioration devrait se poursuivre en 2018, avec une accélération de la croissance dans la plupart des grandes zones économiques et des flux de commerce international plus dynamiques. Les marchés devraient rester bien orientés, bien que le niveau des valorisations pose la question de leur soutenabilité sur la durée, et qu'une certaine volatilité pourrait réapparaître. Enfin, les banques centrales devraient poursuivre la normalisation de leurs politiques monétaires, mais de façon graduelle.</u></p> <p><u>En zone euro, la croissance devrait encore se renforcer en 2018, sous l'effet conjugué de la poursuite d'un ensemble de politiques budgétaires et monétaires accommodantes ainsi que d'une demande internationale robuste.</u></p> <p><u>Pour 2018, l'agenda réglementaire devrait se concentrer sur le processus législatif européen concernant le paquet des textes CRR2/CRD5, ainsi que sur la finalisation et l'harmonisation des différents ratios de passifs exigibles (MREL – Minimum Required Eligible Liabilities, et TLAC – Total Loss Absorbing Capacity).</u></p> <p><u>L'année 2018 devrait rester marquée par un contexte de forte incertitude géopolitique, dans le prolongement d'un certain nombre d'événements intervenus depuis deux ans. D'importantes élections se dérouleront au sein de plusieurs pays de l'Union Européenne (en Italie notamment), tandis que se poursuivront les négociations relatives au « Brexit ». Les tensions « régionalistes » (Catalogne) pourraient continuer de s'affirmer. Par ailleurs, plusieurs foyers d'instabilité ou de tensions pourraient affecter l'économie mondiale, que ce soit au Proche-Orient ou en Asie, et alors même que la politique américaine se caractérise actuellement par une certaine imprévisibilité.</u></p> <p><u>En Europe, et sous réserve que la situation politique en Allemagne et en Italie se clarifie, 2018 pourrait marquer une relance de l'ambition européenne.</u></p> <p><u>Enfin, les banques continueront de faire face à un certain nombre de mutations profondes, et en particulier à l'accélération des changements technologiques, qui les obligent à transformer en profondeur leurs modèles opérationnels et relationnels.</u></p> <p><u>Dans ce contexte, et afin de générer une croissance supérieure, rentable et durable, les priorités du Groupe en 2018 seront :</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>de poursuivre sa croissance, en mettant en œuvre une série d'initiatives ambitieuses à destination de l'ensemble de ses clientèles à potentiel (entreprises, professionnels et clientèle patrimoniale, bancassurance, Boursorama, ALD, etc.), en</u></li> </ul>
--	--	--



		<p>développant des segmentations et des services adaptés à l'évolution de leurs besoins ;</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>d'accélérer la transformation numérique de l'ensemble de ses métiers et fonctions, et en particulier la digitalisation de ses enseignes de banque de détail, en France comme à l'étranger ;</li> <li>de maintenir un pilotage strict de ses coûts, de ses risques et de son allocation de capital ;</li> <li>de continuer son recentrage, au travers de la cession ou de la fermeture des activités n'ayant pas la taille critique ou non génératrices de synergies ;</li> <li>de poursuivre le déploiement de son programme Culture &amp; Conduite, qui vise à développer la culture Société Générale en mettant au cœur de sa transformation les valeurs, la qualité du leadership et l'intégrité des comportements ce qui permettra de renforcer la confiance de l'ensemble de ses parties prenantes (et en premier lieu ses clients).]</li> </ul> <p>[Si l'Emetteur est SG Issuer ou SG Option Europe : L'Emetteur entend continuer son activité en concordance avec son objet social durant l'année <del>2017</del> 2018.]</p>
--	--	--

1.2 Dans l'élément B.12, « Informations financières historiques clés de l'Emetteur », le tableau à la page 12 concernant Société Générale en tant qu'Emetteur est modifié comme suit :

<b>B.12</b>	<b>Informations financières historiques clés de l'Emetteur</b>	[Si l'Emetteur est Société Générale :			
			<b>Fin 2017 (<del>non</del> audités)</b>	<b>Fin 2016 (audités)</b>	
		<b>Résultats (en millions d'euros)</b>			
		Produit net bancaire	23 954	25 298	
		Résultat d'exploitation	4 767	6 390	
		Résultat net	3 430	4 338	
		Résultat net part du Groupe	2 806	3 874	
		Banque de détail en France	1 010	1 486	
		Banque de détail et Services Financiers Internationaux	1 975	1 631	
		Banque de Grande Clientèle et Solutions Investisseurs	1 566	1 803	
		Hors pôles	(1 745)	(1 046)	
		Coût net du risque	(1 349)	(2 091)	
		ROE <del>sous-jacent</del> (1) après impôt **	<del>8,3%</del> 4,9%	<del>7,9%</del> 7,3%	
		Ratio Tier 1 **	13,8%	14,5%	
		<b>Activité (en milliards d'euros)</b>			
		Total Actif/Passif	1 275,1	1 354,4**	
		Prêts et créances sur la clientèle	425,2	426,5	
		Dettes envers la clientèle	410,6	421,0	
		<b>Capitaux propres (en milliards d'euros)</b>			
		Capitaux propres part du Groupe	59,4	62,0	
Participations ne donnant pas le contrôle	4,7	<del>3,8</del> 3,7			



		<b>Flux de trésorerie (en millions d'euros)</b>		
		Variation de la trésorerie et des équivalents de trésorerie	18 023	18 442
		<del>(1) Ajusté des éléments non économiques et exceptionnels et d'IFRIC 21.</del>		
		** Ces <del>positions ou</del> ratios financiers ne sont pas audités.		

- 1.3 Dans l'élément B.12, « *Déclaration relative à la détérioration significative dans les perspectives de l'Emetteur depuis la date de ses derniers états financiers vérifiés et publiés* », le sous-paragraphe à la page 13 concernant Société Générale en tant qu'Emetteur est modifié comme suit :

« [Si l'Emetteur est Société Générale :

Il n'y a pas eu de détérioration significative dans les perspectives de l'Émetteur survenue après le 31 décembre ~~2016~~ 2017.] »

- 1.4 Dans l'élément B.12, « *Description des changements significatifs dans la situation financière ou commerciale de l'Emetteur survenus après la période couverte par les informations financières historiques* », le sous-paragraphe aux pages 13 et 14 concernant Société Générale en tant qu'Emetteur n'est pas modifié et reste rédigé comme suit :

« [Si l'Emetteur est Société Générale :

Sans objet. Il n'y a pas eu de changements significatifs dans la situation financière ou commerciale de l'Émetteur survenus après le 31 Décembre 2017.] »

- 1.5 L'élément B.13 à la page 14, « *Événements récents propres à l'Emetteur et présentant un intérêt significatif pour l'évaluation de sa solvabilité* », est modifié comme suit :

<b>B.13</b>	<b>Événements récents propres à l'Emetteur et présentant un intérêt significatif pour l'évaluation de sa solvabilité</b>	Sans objet. Il n'y a <del>eu aucun</del> pas d'événement récent propre à l'Emetteur et présentant un intérêt significatif pour l'évaluation de sa solvabilité.
-------------	--	--

- 1.6 L'élément D.2 aux pages 33 et 35, « *Principaux risques propres à l'Emetteur [et au Garant]* » est modifié comme suit :

<b>D.2</b>	<b>Principaux risques propres à l'Emetteur [et au Garant]</b>	Un investissement dans les Titres implique certains risques qui doivent être pris en compte avant toute décision d'investissement.  En particulier, le Groupe est exposé aux risques inhérents à ses activités, notamment :
------------	---	---

	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>les risques économiques mondiaux :</u>  <u>L'économie mondiale et les marchés financiers sont toujours affectés par de fortes incertitudes susceptibles d'avoir un effet défavorable significatif sur l'activité du Groupe, sa situation financière et ses résultats.</u>   <u>Les résultats du Groupe pourraient être affectés par les expositions aux marchés régionaux.</u>   <u>Le Groupe est présent dans des secteurs très concurrentiels, y compris sur son marché domestique.</u> </li> <li>• <u>les risques de crédit :</u>  Le Groupe est exposé à des risques de contrepartie et de concentration.   Les stratégies de couverture mises en place par le Groupe n'écartent pas tout risque de pertes.   Une augmentation importante de nouvelles provisions ou des provisions inadaptées des pertes sur créance douteuses pourraient avoir un effet défavorable sur les résultats du Groupe et sa situation financière. </li> <li>• <u>les risques de marché :</u>  <del>L'économie mondiale et les marchés financiers sont toujours affectés par de fortes incertitudes susceptibles d'avoir un effet défavorable significatif sur l'activité du Groupe, sa situation financière et ses résultats.</del>   <del>Les résultats du Groupe pourraient être affectés par son exposition à des marchés régionaux.</del>   <del>Le Groupe est présent dans des secteurs très concurrentiels, y compris sur son marché domestique.</del>   Un ralentissement prolongé des marchés financiers ou une liquidité réduite <del>de tels</del> <u>sur les</u> marchés pourrait rendre plus difficile la cession d'actifs <u>ou la manœuvrabilité des positions</u> et entraîner d'importantes pertes.   La volatilité des marchés financiers pourrait se traduire par des pertes importantes sur les activités de <i>trading</i> et d'investissement du Groupe.   La solidité financière et le comportement des autres institutions financières et acteurs de marché pourraient avoir un effet défavorable sur l'activité du Groupe.   En cas de dégradation du marché, le Groupe pourrait tirer des revenus plus faibles des activités de courtage et de celles fondées sur la perception de commissions. </li> <li>• <u>les risques opérationnels :</u></li> </ul>
--	--

		<p>Le système de gestion des risques du Groupe pourrait connaître des défaillances et exposer le Groupe à des risques non identifiés ou non anticipés pouvant entraîner des pertes importantes.</p> <p>Une défaillance opérationnelle, une interruption ou un incident d'exploitation affectant les partenaires commerciaux du Groupe, ou une défaillance ou une violation des systèmes d'information du Groupe, pourrait entraîner des pertes.</p> <p><del>Le</del><u>Pour établir ses comptes consolidés en conformité avec le référentiel IFRS tel qu'adopté dans l'Union européenne, le</u> Groupe s'appuie sur des hypothèses et estimations qui, si elles se révélaient inexactes, pourraient avoir une incidence significative sur ses états financiers.</p> <p><del>Conserver ou attirer des collaborateurs qualifiés est essentiel pour le succès des activités du Groupe ; si le Groupe n'y parvenait pas, cela pourrait avoir un effet défavorable significatif sur ses performances.</del>  <u>Une incapacité à conserver ou attirer des collaborateurs qualifiés, ainsi que des évolutions significatives de la réglementation du travail et des rémunérations, pourraient peser sur les performances du Groupe.</u></p> <p>S'il réalisait une acquisition, le Groupe pourrait être dans l'incapacité de mettre en oeuvre le processus d'intégration des sociétés acquises dans des conditions de coût favorables ou de tirer parti des avantages attendus.</p> <p><u>Le Groupe pourrait subir des pertes en raison d'événements imprévus ou catastrophiques, notamment des attaques terroristes ou des catastrophes naturelles.</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>les risques structurels de taux d'intérêt et de change</u> :</li> </ul> <p>La variation des taux d'intérêt pourrait peser sur les activités de Banque et de Gestion d'Actifs du Groupe.</p> <p>Les fluctuations des taux de change pourraient impacter les résultats du Groupe.</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>le risque de liquidité</u> :</li> </ul> <p>Le Groupe est dépendant de son accès au financement et à d'autres sources de liquidité, lesquels peuvent être limités pour des raisons indépendantes de sa volonté.</p> <p><del>Une liquidité réduite sur les marchés financiers pourrait rendre plus difficile la cession d'actifs et entraîner d'importantes pertes.</del></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>les risques de non-conformité et de réputation, <del>risques juridiques</del> litiges</u> :</li> </ul> <p>Une détérioration de la réputation du Groupe pourrait affecter sa position concurrentielle.</p>
--	--	---

		<p>Les risques juridiques auxquels le Groupe est exposé pourraient avoir un effet défavorable sur sa situation financière et ses résultats.</p> <p>Le Groupe est soumis à un cadre réglementaire étendu dans les pays où il est présent et les modifications de ce cadre réglementaire pourraient avoir un effet significatif sur l'activité <u>et les coûts</u> du Groupe <u>et l'environnement financier et économique dans lequel il opère</u>.</p> <p>Certaines mesures exceptionnelles prises par les États, les banques centrales et les régulateurs pourraient être amendées ou arrêtées <del>et les mesures prises au niveau européen pourraient être confrontées à des risques de mise en œuvre.</del></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>Les autres risques</u> :  <del>Le Groupe pourrait subir des pertes en raison d'événements imprévus ou catastrophiques, notamment la survenance d'une pandémie, d'attaques terroristes ou de catastrophes naturelles.</del></li> </ul> <p><u>Les risques liés à la mise en œuvre du plan stratégique du Groupe.</u></p> <p><u>La solvabilité et les notations de l'Emetteur peuvent affecter la valeur de marché des Titres.</u></p> <p><u>Le départ imminent du Royaume-Uni de l'Union européenne pourrait avoir un effet significatif sur le Groupe.</u></p> <p>[Insérer si l'Emetteur est SG Issuer ou SG Option Europe : Puisque l'Emetteur appartient au Groupe, ces facteurs de risque sont applicables à l'Emetteur.]</p>
--	--	---

## 2. MODIFICATIONS DE LA SECTION « FACTEURS DE RISQUE »

- 7.1 Dans l'introduction de la section « *Facteurs de risque* », le premier paragraphe à la page 43 est modifié comme suit :

**« Les investisseurs potentiels dans les Titres doivent examiner attentivement les informations suivantes, conjointement avec les autres informations contenues dans ce Prospectus de Base, tout Supplément y afférent, le Document de Référence ~~2017~~ 2018 de Société Générale ~~et les actualisations y afférentes~~ (voir la section « Documents Incorporés par Référence »), ainsi que les autres informations relatives aux Emetteurs incorporées par référence dans le Prospectus de Base et toutes Conditions Définitives, avant d'acquérir des Titres. »**

- 7.2 Dans la sous-section 2, « *Risques relatifs aux Emetteurs, au Groupe et au Garant* », le paragraphe 2.1 aux pages 45 et 46, « *Le Groupe est exposé à des risques inhérents à ses activités* », est modifié comme suit :

### « 2.1 Le Groupe est exposé à des risques inhérents à ses activités

Un investissement dans les Titres implique certains risques qui doivent être pris en compte avant toute décision d'investissement.

En particulier, le Groupe est exposé aux risques inhérents à ses activités, notamment :

- les risques économiques mondiaux :

L'économie mondiale et les marchés financiers sont toujours affectés par de fortes incertitudes susceptibles d'avoir un effet défavorable significatif sur l'activité du Groupe, sa situation financière et ses résultats.

Les résultats du Groupe pourraient être affectés par les expositions aux marchés régionaux.

Le Groupe est présent dans des secteurs très concurrentiels, y compris sur son marché domestique.

- les risques de crédit :

Le Groupe est exposé à des risques de contrepartie et de concentration.

Les stratégies de couverture mises en place par le Groupe n'écartent pas tout risque de pertes.

Une augmentation importante de nouvelles provisions ou des provisions inadéquates des pertes sur créance douteuses pourraient avoir un effet défavorable sur les résultats du Groupe et sa situation financière.

- les risques de marché :

~~L'économie mondiale et les marchés financiers sont toujours affectés par de fortes incertitudes susceptibles d'avoir un effet défavorable significatif sur l'activité du Groupe, sa situation financière et ses résultats.~~

~~Les résultats du Groupe pourraient être affectés par son exposition à des marchés régionaux.~~

~~Le Groupe est présent dans des secteurs très concurrentiels, y compris sur son marché domestique.~~

Un ralentissement prolongé des marchés financiers ou une liquidité réduite ~~de tels~~ sur les marchés pourrait rendre plus difficile la cession d'actifs ou la manœuvrabilité des positions et entraîner d'importantes pertes.

La volatilité des marchés financiers pourrait se traduire par des pertes importantes sur les activités de *trading* et d'investissement du Groupe.

La solidité financière et le comportement des autres institutions financières et acteurs de marché pourraient avoir un effet défavorable sur l'activité du Groupe.

En cas de dégradation du marché, le Groupe pourrait tirer des revenus plus faibles des activités de courtage et de celles fondées sur la perception de commissions.

- les risques opérationnels :

Le système de gestion des risques du Groupe pourrait connaître des défaillances et exposer le Groupe à des risques non identifiés ou non anticipés pouvant entraîner des pertes importantes.

Une défaillance opérationnelle, une interruption ou un incident d'exploitation affectant les partenaires commerciaux du Groupe, ou une défaillance ou une violation des systèmes d'information du Groupe, pourrait entraîner des pertes.

~~Le~~ Pour établir ses comptes consolidés en conformité avec le référentiel IFRS tel qu'adopté dans l'Union européenne, le Groupe s'appuie sur des hypothèses et estimations qui, si elles se révélaient inexactes, pourraient avoir une incidence significative sur ses états financiers.

~~Conserver ou attirer des collaborateurs qualifiés est essentiel pour le succès des activités du Groupe ; si le Groupe n'y parvenait pas, cela pourrait avoir un effet défavorable significatif sur~~

~~ses performances. Une incapacité à conserver ou attirer des collaborateurs qualifiés, ainsi que des évolutions significatives de la réglementation du travail et des rémunérations, pourraient peser sur les performances du Groupe.~~

S'il réalisait une acquisition, le Groupe pourrait être dans l'incapacité de mettre en œuvre le processus d'intégration des sociétés acquises dans des conditions de coût favorables ou de tirer parti des avantages attendus.

Le Groupe pourrait subir des pertes en raison d'événements imprévus ou catastrophiques, notamment des attaques terroristes ou des catastrophes naturelles.

- les risques structurels de taux d'intérêt et de change :

La variation des taux d'intérêt pourrait peser sur les activités de Banque et de Gestion d'Actifs du Groupe.

Les fluctuations des taux de change pourraient impacter les résultats du Groupe.

- le risque de liquidité :

Le Groupe est dépendant de son accès au financement et à d'autres sources de liquidité, lesquels peuvent être limités pour des raisons indépendantes de sa volonté.

~~Une liquidité réduite sur les marchés financiers pourrait rendre plus difficile la cession d'actifs et entraîner d'importantes pertes.~~

- les risques de non-conformité et de réputation, ~~risques juridiques litiges~~ :

Une détérioration de la réputation du Groupe pourrait affecter sa position concurrentielle.

Les risques juridiques auxquels le Groupe est exposé pourraient avoir un effet défavorable sur sa situation financière et ses résultats.

Le Groupe est soumis à un cadre réglementaire étendu dans les pays où il est présent et les modifications de ce cadre réglementaire pourraient avoir un effet significatif sur l'activité et les coûts du Groupe et l'environnement financier et économique dans lequel il opère.

Certaines mesures exceptionnelles prises par les États, les banques centrales et les régulateurs pourraient être amendées ou arrêtées ~~et les mesures prises au niveau européen pourraient être confrontées à des risques de mise en œuvre.~~

- Les autres risques :

~~Le Groupe pourrait subir des pertes en raison d'événements imprévus ou catastrophiques, notamment la survenance d'une pandémie, d'attaques terroristes ou de catastrophes naturelles.~~

Les risques liés à la mise en œuvre du plan stratégique du Groupe.

La solvabilité et les notations de l'Emetteur peuvent affecter la valeur de marché des Titres.

Le départ imminent du Royaume-Uni de l'Union européenne pourrait avoir un effet significatif sur le Groupe. »

### 3. MODIFICATIONS DE LA SECTION « AMENDMENTS TO THE SECTION “DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE »

3.1 Dans le paragraphe 1.1, « Documents incorporés par référence relatifs à Société Générale », le sous-paragraphe 1.1.7 suivant est ajouté comme suit à la page 131 :

#### « 1.1.7 Document de Référence 2018

L'expression « Document de Référence 2018 » désigne le document de référence 2018 de Société Générale, déposé auprès de l'AMF le 8 mars 2018 sous le numéro N° D.18-0112, exception faite de (i) la page de couverture intérieure contenant le visa de l'AMF et l'encart y afférent, (ii) l'attestation du responsable du document de référence et du rapport financier annuel faite par M. Frédéric Oudéa, Directeur général de Société Générale, page 556 et (iii) la table de concordance, pages 560-562.

La table de concordance se rapportant au Document de référence 2018 figure au paragraphe 2.1.7 ci-dessous. »

3.2 Dans le paragraphe 2.1, « Tables de concordance relatives à Société Générale », un sous-paragraphe 2.1.7 incluant le tableau suivant est ajouté comme suit à la page 136 :

#### “2.1.7 2018 Registration Document”

<u>Règlement (CE) No 809/2004 du 29 avril 2004</u>	<u>Document de Référence 2018</u>
<b><u>FACTEURS DE RISQUES</u></b>	<u>138-235</u>
<b><u>INFORMATIONS CONCERNANT L'EMETTEUR</u></b>	
<u>Histoire et évolution de l'Emetteur</u>	<u>8 ; 539</u>
<b><u>APERÇU DES ACTIVITÉS</u></b>	
<u>Principales activités</u>	<u>9 ; 50-58</u>
<u>Principaux marchés</u>	<u>9-12 ; 14-26 ; 28-29 ; 406-409</u>
<b><u>ORGANIGRAMME</u></b>	
<u>Description sommaire du Groupe et de la place qu'y occupe l'Emetteur</u>	<u>9 ; 28-29</u>
<b><u>INFORMATION SUR LES TENDANCES</u></b>	
<u>13</u>	
<b><u>ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT</u></b>	
<u>Membres des organes d'administration et de la direction</u>	<u>72-98 ; 132</u>
<u>Conflits d'intérêts au niveau des organes d'administration, de direction et de surveillance</u>	<u>132</u>
<b><u>PRINCIPAUX ACTIONNAIRES</u></b>	
<u>Contrôle de l'Emetteur</u>	<u>535-536</u>
<b><u>INFORMATIONS FINANCIERES CONCERNANT LE PATRIMOINE, LA SITUATION FINANCIERE ET LES RESULTATS DE L'EMETTEUR</u></b>	
<u>Informations financières historiques</u>	<u>123 ; 125 ; 147 ; 151-154 ; 166-167 ; 176 ; 179-183 ; 191-194 ; 198-202 ; 204-206 ; 217-218 ; 220-222 ; 301-447 ; 454-523 ; 561</u>

<a href="#">Etats financiers audités</a>	<a href="#">123 ; 125 ; 147 ; 151-154 ; 166-167 ; 176 ; 179-183 ; 191-194 ; 198-202 ; 204-206 ; 217-218 ; 220-222 ; 301-447 ; 454-523</a>
<a href="#">Bilan consolidé</a>	<a href="#">302-303</a>
<a href="#">Compte de résultat consolidé</a>	<a href="#">304</a>
<a href="#">Tableau des flux de trésorerie</a>	<a href="#">308</a>
<a href="#">Notes annexes aux états financiers consolidés</a>	<a href="#">309-447</a>
<a href="#">Vérification des informations financières historiques annuelles</a>	<a href="#">448-453 ; 524-529</a>
<a href="#">Date des dernières informations financières</a>	<a href="#">302 ; 454</a>
<a href="#">Changement significatif de la situation financière de l'Emetteur</a>	<a href="#">232 ; 444-447 ; 521-523</a>
<b>CONTRATS IMPORTANTS</b>	<a href="#">66</a>
<a href="#">Date des dernières informations financières</a>	<a href="#">67</a>

»

#### 4. MODIFICATIONS DE LA SECTION « DESCRIPTION OF SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE »

4.1 La sous-section 1 à la page 805, « *Contrôleurs légaux des comptes* », est modifiée comme suit :

##### « 1. CONTRÔLEURS LÉGAUX DES COMPTES

---

Pour les exercices clos le 31 décembre ~~2015~~ [2016](#) et le 31 décembre ~~2016~~ [2017](#) :

##### **Ernst & Young et Autres**

Membres de la Compagnie Nationale des Commissaires aux Comptes  
Représentés par Isabelle Santenac,  
1/2, place des Saisons, 92400 Courbevoie - Paris-La Défense 1, France

##### **Deloitte & Associés**

Membres de la Compagnie Nationale des Commissaires aux Comptes  
Représentés par José-Luis Garcia,  
185, avenue Charles de Gaulle, 92524 Neuilly-Sur-Seine Cedex, France.

Ernst & Young et Autres et Deloitte & Associés ne détiennent pas d'intérêt significatif dans Société Générale. »

4.2 La sous-section 5 à la page 805, « *Informations sur les tendances* », est modifiée comme suit :

##### « 5. INFORMATIONS SUR LES TENDANCES

---

Aucune détérioration significative n'a affecté les perspectives de Société Générale et de ses sociétés liées consolidées (considérés dans leur ensemble), depuis le 31 décembre ~~2016~~ [2017](#).

Pour obtenir des informations sur les tendances connues concernant Société Générale, se référer à la page 13 du document de référence ~~2017~~ [2018](#) de Société Générale incorporé par référence dans ce Prospectus de Base. »



4.3 Le paragraphe 9.1 à la page 806, « *Procédures judiciaires et d'arbitrage* », est modifiée comme suit :

**« 9.1 Procédure judiciaire et d'arbitrage**

A l'exception de ce qui est publié aux pages 237 et 423 à 426 du Document de Référence 2017 et à la page 63 de la Première Actualisation du Document de Référence 2017, il n'existe aucune procédure gouvernementale, judiciaire ou d'arbitrage couvrant au moins les douze mois précédant la date de ce Prospectus de Base (y compris toute procédure dont Société Générale a connaissance, qui est en suspens ou dont elle est menacée) qui pourrait avoir ou a eu récemment des effets significatifs sur la situation financière ou la rentabilité de Société Générale et/ou du Groupe.

Se référer également aux paragraphes 1.1 et 2.1 de la section « Documents Incorporés par Référence » du présent prospectus de Base. »

**5. MODIFICATION DE LA SECTION « DESCRIPTION DE SG ISSUER »**

La sous-section 5 à la page 809, « *Organigramme* », est modifiée comme suit :

**« 5. ORGANIGRAMME**

---

SG Issuer est une société liée du Groupe Société Générale et n'a pas de société liée.

La brève description et l'organigramme simplifié du Groupe Société Générale figurent aux pages 28 et 29 du Document de référence ~~2017~~ [2018](#) de Société Générale (se référer aux paragraphes 1.1 et 2.1 de la section « *Documents Incorporés par Référence* » du présent Prospectus de Base).

SG Issuer dépend de Société Générale Bank & Trust au sein du Groupe. »

**6. MODIFICATION DE LA SECTION « DESCRIPTION DE SG OPTION EUROPE »**

La sous-section 5 à la page 815, « *Organigramme* », est modifiée comme suit :

**« 5. ORGANIGRAMME**

---

SG Option Europe est une société liée du Groupe Société Générale et n'a pas de société liée.

La brève description et l'organigramme simplifié du Groupe Société Générale figurent aux pages 28 et 29 du Document de référence ~~2017~~ [2018](#) de Société Générale (se référer aux paragraphes 1.1 et 2.1 de la section « *Documents Incorporés par Référence* » du présent Prospectus de Base). »

**7. MODIFICATION DE LA SECTION « INFORMATIONS GÉNÉRALES »**

Dans la sous-section 5, « *Documents disponibles* », le point (b) à la page 856 est modifié comme suit :

« (b) le Document de Référence 2016, le Document de Référence 2017 ~~et~~ la Première Actualisation du Document de Référence 2017 [et le Document de Référence 2018](#) ; »

## **DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE**

Copies of this Supplement and the documents incorporated by reference can be obtained, without charge, from the head office of each Issuer and the specified office of each of the Paying Agents, in each case, at the address given at the end of each Base Prospectus.

This Supplement and the documents incorporated by reference will be published on the website of:

- the Luxembourg Stock Exchange ([www.bourse.lu](http://www.bourse.lu)); and
- the Issuers (<http://prospectus.socgen.com>).

## **RESPONSIBILITY**

To the best of the knowledge and belief of each Issuer and the Guarantor (each having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in or incorporated into, this Supplement is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information and, save as disclosed in this Supplement, no other significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to information included in or incorporated by reference into each Base Prospectus has arisen or been noted, as the case may be, since the publication of each Base Prospectus and the Previous Supplements.

Each Issuer and the Guarantor accept responsibility accordingly for the information contained in or incorporated into this Supplement.